IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL KUKOR

V.

CLAIMANT/APPELLANT

EMPLOYER/APPELLEE

CARRIER/APPELLEE

NO. 2007-WC-01783

NORTHEAST TREE SERVICE, INC. AND LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY

AND

i

JAY'S SERVICE COMPANY AND FIRSTCOMP INSURANCE COMPANY **EMPLOYER/APPELLEE**

CARRIER/APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEALED FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

HON. JOHN HUNTER STEVENS

GRENFELL, SLEDGE AND STEVENS 1659 LELIA DRIVE JACKSON MS 39216 TEL NO. (601) 366-1900 FAX NO. (601) 366-1799 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL KUKOR	CLAIMANT/APPELLANT	
VS.	NO. 2007-WC-01783

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether or not the Commission erred in not finding that the Claimant's employment for Jim Albritton was one (or joint employer) and the same for the purpose of workers' compensation even though he had business cards that identified Jay's Service Company, an illegal unincorporated association created solely for purposes of trying to saving workers' compensation premiums.

2. Whether the Commission erred in reversing the findings of the Administrative Judge.

3. Whether or not there was any evidence whatsoever to refute that the Claimant was permanently totally disabled.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court of Appeal of the Order of Administrative Law Judge dated June 26, 2006. The Administrative Judge rightfully found that, despite possibly fraudulent attempts by the Claimant's employer and his insurance carriers to circumvent the requirements of the Workers' Compensation Act, the Judge correctly found that the Claimant's employment with Jim Albritton , through Northeast Tree Service and the illegal entity identified as Jay's Service Company were really one and the same for purposes of an employer under the Workers' Compensation Act, following the precedent set in <u>Liberty Mutual vs. Holliman</u>. (Discussed *infra.*)

The Administrative Judge correctly found that Northeast Tree Service and the non-legal company identified as Jay's Service Company on a business card were one employer pursuant to law and correctly found that each were jointly liable for the claims of workers' compensation injuries. Further, the Administrative Judge found that, as a result of the severe multiple injuries, high impairment ratings, illiteracy of the Claimant, past job experience, taken with the fact that he had made considerable job search efforts was unable to find any employment, the Judge found him permanently and totally disabled. These are findings from which the insurance companies for Jim Albritton, D/B/A Northeast Tree Service and Jay's Service Company appealed.

,

:

÷

ζ.

The Commission ignoring the findings of the learned and experienced Administrative Law Judge, instead found that the Claimant's employer was two separate legal entities, and amazingly found that the Claimant was not totally disabled. The Commission's findings were affirmed by the Circuit Court. The Claimant herein, feeling aggrieved by the injustice in the findings of the Commission appealed to this Court urging the Court of Appeal to consider ramifications of these findings and to reverse and reinstate the Administrative Law Judge's findings.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Claimant, on or about May 20, 2003, sustained severe multiple injuries as a result of a fall from a tree he was trimming, sustaining significant fractures of his right and left upper extremities and a severe back injury which will necessitate continued treatment for the <u>rest</u> of his lifetime.

Claimant is 37 years of age and resides in <u>rural</u> Covington County, Mississippi. He completed the tenth grade in school, with a special education curriculum. Claimant is illiterate and has to have assistance with reading and writing. (T-10) He has to have assistance to even fill out a job application. (T-11)

After leaving school, Claimant worked in fast food restaurants, which required lifting more than 40 pounds, stooping, bending, and standing. Claimant then worked in construction as a manual laborer. He lifted more than 50 pounds daily, climbed ladders, stooped, and twisted. Claimant assembled metal buildings, with heavy steel and tin.

After he left the construction industry, Claimant began his profession trimming trees. He climbed trees, removed limbs with hand-held saws, rappelled down from the trees, placed limbs into chipping machines, and cleaned around the area. Claimant removed trees from residential and commercial areas. He said he lifted heavy limbs and chainsaws and had to bend, stoop, and walk every day.

÷

÷

Claimant testified that he climbed to the tops of trees with climbing spurs, then cut limbs one by one with a saw as he descended the tree. He used ropes to lower limbs to the ground. The job is classified as heavy. He testified that he was always required to clean the debris after cutting down the tree. Claimant earned \$12.00 per hour with his experience and worked long hours.

Claimant worked in the tree service industry for years before starting with Northeast around April 2003. He saw a yellow pages advertisement for Northeast and called for a position. Claimant completed an application for Northeast. He was interviewed and hired by Jim Albritton.

Claimant testified that he performed tree cutting services for Northeast, which included climbing trees, using power saws, removing limbs, cleaning debris on the ground, and cutting limbs on the ground to feed them into the chipper. When he climbed down from the tree, Claimant removed his equipment and started helping other workers to clean the area. He said he threw limbs into a dump truck, raked leaves, and fed limbs into the chipping machines.

Claimant did not know Albritton had a business named Jay's Service Company until he got a check with that name on it about three weeks after he started working for Albritton. Claimant said he received two separate checks (both signed by Albritton), but did not understand why. He was paid \$12.00 per hour, no matter which company issued the paycheck. Claimant said he never filled out an application for Jay's.

While working for Albritton, Claimant drove to Allbritton's home in Madison, where the office and equipment were located. All employees met there, and Albritton made the work assignments every morning. He was required to work 40 hours a week.

Claimant testified that he used the same equipment for every job, and he got the equipment from Albritton's home. He understood that Albritton was the owner, with the authority to hire and fire all employees.

÷

÷

Claimant occasionally accompanied Albritton when an estimate was quoted. He recalled that one price was given and one check paid for the tree cutting and cleaning work. Claimant said that the only business cards he saw had Northeast on them. He never saw any separate cards, bills, or invoices with Jay's name.

On May 20, 2003, Claimant was working for Albritton when he rappelled down a tree and fell. He hurt his wrists and back. Crew members removed his equipment and took him to the Baptist Hospital emergency room. Albritton was present.

Dr. Vohra gave Mr. Kukor a 5% impairment rating and provided restrictions on November 3, 2003, sedentary only work with no lifting over 10 pounds and no climbing. Subsequently, on March 4, 2004, he placed him at light-medium level of work with lifting restrictions and no repetitive bending, twisting or stooping and frequent position change. (Gen. Ex. 3) Dr. Ramsey treated the Claimant for his bilateral distal fractures on his right and left upper extremities and assigned him a 15% impairment to the right upper extremity and a 18% impairment to the left upper extremity and deferred to Dr. Davis for restrictions. (Gen. Ex. 14)

After his accident, Claimant was treated for broken wrists by Dr. Randall Ramsey. Dr. John Davis, IV and Dr. Rahul Vohra treated Claimant for his back injury. Claimant received a \$40 check from Liberty. He got a letter from Albritton about paying the difference between the workers' compensation payment and his salary. Afterward, Claimant began receiving a check from Albritton.

Claimant was released to light duty work on April 2004. On April 2, 2004, Albritton sent Claimant a letter offering a light-duty job <u>with Northeast</u> to do work on the ground only. On May 3, 2004, Albritton sent a letter to Claimant confirming that Claimant was not able to work due to a license suspension. Claimant testified that his driver's license was suspended for failure to pay child support, which he was unable to do since he was not working due to his injury.

Eventually, Claimant returned to work for Northeast driving a dump truck. He said that driving the truck over rough terrain caused his back to hurt. Claimant tried to rake leaves, but he could not bend or stoop. He received a paycheck from Jay's in May 2004. Claimant searched for work within his restrictions. If requested, he provided the list of physical restrictions to employers. Claimant also met with the Employer-Carrier's vocational expert, Pete Mills. He said he contacted <u>every one</u> of the employers listed in Mill's report. Claimant also registered with the state employment agency. He estimated that he contacted over <u>118</u> employers looking for work. Claimant has not received <u>any</u> job offers from his efforts or the efforts of Mills for over a year and a half. (Emphasis added.)(T- 29-31)

ł

1

ł

Claimant testified that he currently has difficulty lifting over ten pounds with his left wrist, since his left wrist is weaker than his right. His back hurts everyday and is worse with activity. Claimant said he cannot walk for long distances, and he sits in a recliner to relive his back pain. (T-32-33)

Claimant stated that he tried to return to Dr. Vohra for additional medical treatment, but the Carrier would not authorize it. He said the Carrier would not pay for pain medication or additional medical treatment. Claimant testified that he wanted to return to work in the tree removal industry, since he had done that for so many years; however, he said his injuries prevented him from doing so. Claimant had no prior physical injuries and was able to work with no problems until this accident. (T-35)

The most recent treatment after Dr. Vohra, Mr. Kukor was seen at the University Medical Center. These records indicate continued chronic pain and state that the Claimant is "unable to work" as a result of his back pain. (Gen. Ex. 15)

Mr. Pete Mills, vocational expert, testified for Northeast/Liberty. He interviewed Claimant and issued a vocational evaluation and vocational reports. Mills testified that he thought the Claimant was employable even with the restrictions set forth by the physicians; however, he did not test to measure his education or ability to read, write or his aptitude. (T-67) He could not dispute the illiteracy of the Claimant. (T-57)

ſ

:

ı.

ξ

l

ł

Mills performed a labor market survey on December 22, 2004, and identified potential employment within Claimant's restrictions, work skills, and vocational profile. Mills continued to send lists of employers to Claimant, and the Claimant continued to attempt job searches.

Mills located employment opportunities for Claimant with an hourly wage of \$5.15 up to \$7.85. Mills testified that most of the positions he found were in the \$6.00 to \$7.00 per hour range. He did not feel that informing employers of restrictions prior to an interview was the best way to find employment. Mills agreed that Claimant could not return to work in his pre-injury position. He acknowledges that there were <u>no</u> offers made. (T-69)

Mr. Jim Albritton testified for the Employer. He bought Northeast in 1983 from another individual. Albritton said Northeast is a tree cutting and trimming company. His business card he gave to the Claimant before his injury advertises stump removal. (Gen. Ex. 18)

Albritton confirmed that Northeast and Jay's each issue separate payroll checks. This is the only difference in the supposed companies.

Albritton testified that he formed the two companies <u>because</u> of workers' compensation insurance rates. He said that the Northeast workers' compensation insurance company has special, higher rates for climbers. Albritton has a separate workers' compensation carrier for Jay's due to lower rates for ground workers. He wanted the separate company for the climbers so he would not have to pay higher rates for all of his employees. Albritton testified that Jay's is a sole proprietorship, although he wrongfully identified it as a company, and Northeast is a limited liability company. It is apparent that this was done with the full knowledge and acceptance of Liberty Mutual and First Comp.

Albritton conducts all of his business for both companies from one location. Albritton owns

all of the equipment, which is used by both companies. He has a yellow page advertisement for Northeast, but not one for Jay's. He only has business cards for Jay's, with no telephone listing in the white or yellow pages. The telephone number on the card is the phone number of Northeast. (Gen. Ex. 18) No other listings in the yellow pages of similar businesses are separated into two entities. *Id*.

Albritton agreed that his Northeast business cards do not differentiate between tree cutting and debris removal. He described Jay's as a "subcontractor" to Northeast. He described Jay's business as an "integral part" of Northeast. (T-84-85)

Albritton witnessed Claimant's fall from the tree on May 20, 2003. After Claimant's accident, Albritton voluntarily paid Claimant \$271.00 per week to supplement the workers' compensation checks. This would equal to 2/3 of what he thought was Claimant's average weekly wage, which he was required to pay per the Act. Admittedly, Albritton said he wrote letters to Claimant about returning to work on Northeast letterhead, but these positions would have been with Jay's.

Albritton testified his business does not have a light-duty position, and he pulled all of the light work from other employees just for Claimant to see if he could do it with his restrictions. Albritton thought Claimant could operate the stump grinder, run errands, or drive the dump truck. Claimant attempted to do this work, but was unable. (T-26)

-

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Claimant submits that regardless of a finding of whether or not Mr. Albritton had two separate legitimate businesses (which we submit he did not), at a minimum, Mr. Kukor had an undisputable average weekly wage of \$470.81, and it is undisputed that he worked full time for Mr. Jim Albritton and his supposed companies. All parties agree that Mr. Kukor had an admitted on the job injury. The claimant submits that regardless of which or both insurance companies ultimately pays for his significant loss of wage earning capacity, that issue should be based on the total average weekly wage of his employment.

Notwithstanding any argument based on the undisputed facts, either under the issue of alterego, piercing the corporate veil or dual or joint employment, there is no question that Northeast Tree Service, LLC, Jay's Service Company and Jim Albritton were all one in the same. The evidence unequivocally established that both companies were operated out of the same physical address, served the same purpose, both companies worked together, solely for the benefit and enrichment of Jim Albritton. Mr. Albritton hired and fired and was in complete control of all workers and work performance. Mr. Albritton was the owner of <u>all</u> tools and equipment utilized in the service of both companies. These tools were used by all companies. Mr. Kukor reported to work everyday at the same time for the purpose of both companies. In short, these companies were Jim Albritton in that his business was a tree service which dealt with cutting, removing trees and stumps in residential and commercial areas. (T-85)

With regard to piercing the corporate veil issue, it has rendered moot, and as acknowledged by Mr. Grant in his letter brief, Jay's Service Company, despite representing such as a legal entity to both the workers' compensation Commission and in pleadings in this case, was not a <u>legal</u> corporation and was not even incorporated. As such, there is no veil to pierce despite the argument set forth by Liberty Mutual and First Comp. On the contrary, Mr. Albritton admitted on the stand as much, which further substantiates that the companies were one in the same, but that at a minimum, they were alter-egos of each other. (T-88)(T-90) Mr. Albritton further admitted that the illegal company he identified as Jay's Service Company, he attempted to establish to save workers' compensation premiums, and in fact, the attempt was <u>solely</u> for that purpose. Mr. Albritton admitted

£

ι

ĩ

 that Jay's Service Company did not even have a listing in the phone book nor any type of advertisement whatsoever, although Northeast Tree Service had an ad in the yellow pages that included all services (including those allegedly undertaken by Jay's Service Company) but did not mention Jay's Service Company. He certainly could not argue that Northeast Tree Service was advertised as the same as Jay's Service Company, since even his business card acknowledged as much, that Northeast Tree Service specifically advertised itself for removal of the debris and stumps which allegedly was the purpose of the non-legal Jay's Service Company. See Northeast business card admitted into evidence at the hearing. (See Ex. 17)

In short, Jay's Service Company was a sham, wrongfully created in an attempt to save workers' compensation premiums. However, it became obvious at the hearing that this feeble attempt which would have resulted in cheating Mr. Kukor out of legitimate workers' compensation benefits; also basically would, if taken to be true, as Mr. Albritton's insurance companies would argue leaving Mr. Albritton with violation of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Laws by not providing full coverage as required by statute. Mr. Albritton, even his insurance carriers, admit that he is subject to the provisions of the Act which is to provide full and complete workers' compensation coverage under the Act. Instead, Mr. Albritton, in a thinly veil attempt, created a sham company which in reality is one and the same, that being Northeast Tree Service and Jim Albritton.

- -

£

t

ł.

ŧ

There is additional evidence supporting that Jay's Service Company and Northeast Tree Service were one in the same. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann.§ 79-4-2.04 which deals with liabilities created by a non-corporation states, "all persons <u>purporting</u> to act as or on behalf of a corporation knowing that there was no incorporation under § 74-4-1.01 et seq., are jointly and severally liable for all liabilities while so acting." This statue provides that Northeast Tree Service by and on behalf of the actions of its President, Jim Albritton is jointly and severally for the actions of the non-legal Jay's Service Company. It is simply not a company. A copy of § 79-4-2.04 is attached hereto. Mr. Albritton admitted under oath that his actions violated this statute.

Additional evidence that Jay's Service Company was basically a sham and was one and the same as Northeast Tree Service; and not only the advertising of the company on the business card, but also specific acts undertaken in Mr. Kukor's case. The first being two instances of offers of employment of light duty which amazingly Liberty Mutual's counsel attempted to use those to refute Mr. Kukor's significant disability where Mr. Albritton offered light duty, accommodations for his restrictions <u>on letterhead</u> from Northeast Tree Service which admittedly were for jobs on the ground or with the sham entity, Jay's Service Company. Amazingly, Liberty Mutual and Northeast Tree Services' attempt to, on the one hand argue that these are separate companies, yet on the other hand, argue that they made attempts to bring him back to light duty work, which would have been as Mr. Albritton described it, driving a truck and other ground work involved with removing the stumps and debris which was allegedly Jay's Service Company. Work definitely not light duty.

. -

ŧ,

However, what is even more illogical, is the argument made on behalf of Northeast Tree Service and apparently Liberty Mutual, as well, with regard to the average weekly wage is the fact that Jim Albritton, through Northeast Tree Service, apparently seeing the injustice served by the sham company to save him workers' compensation premiums, realizing that Liberty Mutual had no problem starving Mr. Kukor by paying him \$49.00 a week agreed to attempt to satisfy his obligations under the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act to provide the appropriate percentage at his average weekly wage. This is most telling that alleged Jay's Service Company and Northeast Tree Service were the same. It bears repeating just exactly what Mr. Albritton's admissions were on letterhead of Northeast: You have been employed for about 15 weeks. Your average pay per week is about 371.00^{1} total for both Northeast Tree Service and Jay's Service. Most of your pay has come from Jay's and because of this the workers' compensation for Northeast would not pay very much. Workers' compensation will pay 60% of your average pay normally so I will supplement the workers' compensation with a check from Jay's Service Co. Until you can return to work at least for light duty and ground work. $400.00 \times 60\% = 240.00$ per week. Jim Albriton (signed).

(See as Exhibit "13"(As labeled in the record).)

When faced with this most damaging evidence that Mr. Kukor's true average weekly wage is much higher than the \$72.00, Liberty Mutual alleged, apparently Liberty Mutual and First Comp is arguing that Mr. Albritton paid this out of the goodness of his heart. In fact, First Comp apparently argued in their brief that he paid this out of his own pocket, when specifically there was no dispute but that he was paid that difference from the checking account identified as Jay's Service Company with checks signed by Albritton acting on behalf of Northeast.

Again, significant evidence which prove unequivocally that these businesses were not separate, but instead one and the same. If anything, the only issue that separate the companies was the fact of Mr. Albritton's attempt to separate solely for the purpose of saving workers' compensation premiums. A fact which was known and should have been known by at least Liberty Mutual to be in violation of the Act.

As such, the claimant submits that at a minimum, the admitted finding that he was an employee of Northeast Tree Service that Liberty Mutual should pay benefits in accordance with the law, that is, based on his <u>true</u> average weekly wage of \$470.81 per week. This argument has apparently been adopted by First Comp now apparently realizing the futility in denying there is

¹ All parties would not dispute that the total wages based on the wage statements was actually \$470.81.

no corporate veil to pierce or that Mr. Kukor was at a minimum dually or jointly employed or the <u>alter-ego</u> of Northeast Tree Service. At least First Comp is acknowledging the unreasonableness and the facts in this case do not significantly substantiate and are not supported by the Mississippi Supreme Court's holdings with regard to joint employment and/or alter-ego or the provisions of Miss.Code Ann. § 79-4-1.01.

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