IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2007-		
MICHAEL KUKOR		APPELLANT
VS.		
NORTHEAST TREE SERVICE, INC. AND LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY	APPELLEES	
AND		
JAY'S SERVICE COMPANY AND FIRST COMP INSURANCE COMPANY	APPELLEES	
CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUR	FROM THE NTY, MISSISSIPPI; CI 239(C)	VIL ACTION NO.

BRIEF OF APPELLEES NORTHEAST TREE SERVICE, INC. AND LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY

W. BIENVILLE SKIPPER - DANIEL COKER HORTON AND BELL, P.A. 4400 OLD CANTON ROAD, SUITE 400 POST OFFICE BOX 1084 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39215-1084 (601) 969-7607 Attorney for Appellees Northeast Tree Service, Inc. and Liberty Mutual Insurance Company

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL KUKOR

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The parties dispute neither the fact that Kukor was working for Northeast as a tree trimmer at the time of the accident, nor that Kukor had worked for both Northeast and Jay's at various times. However, the evidence is clear the two companies cannot be held jointly and severally liable for one injury. Kukor received separate checks for the work he performed for the different companies. Further, his purported average weekly wage for Northeast was \$72.00, and his average weekly wage for Jay's was \$398.81. However, the Commission remanded the issue of average weekly wage to the Administrative Judge for a determination of wages earned by Kukor in the job in which he was working at the time of his injury, i.e. with Northeast, by determining the average weekly wage of a similar employee. As such, Northeast

and Liberty Mutual submit Kukor's appeal is interlocutory and therefore unauthorized.

However, if this Court finds the Commission's Order final and, therefore, appealable,

Northeast and Liberty Mutual would urge this Court that the Order of the Mississippi

Workers' Compensation Commission is supported by substantial evidence in the record and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Time and time again, the Mississippi Supreme Court has reiterated the narrow and limited standard of review in workers' compensation appeals:

The Workers' Compensation Commission is the trier and finder of facts in a compensation claim, the findings of the Administrative Law Judge to the contrary notwithstanding.

* * *

[An appellate court may] reverse the Commission's order only if it finds that order clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

Smith v. Container General Corp., 559 So. 2d 1019, 1021 (Miss. 1990) [quoting Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co., 523 So. 2d 314, 317 (Miss. 1988)]. Thus, despite Kukor's repeated reference to the findings of the Administrative Judge, it is the Commission's decision with which this Court must concern itself, and, as is well-settled, "[t]he Commission is the finder of facts. And if those facts are based on substantial evidence [an appellate court lacks] the power to disturb them, even though that evidence would not convince [the court] were [it] the fact finders." Olen Burrage Trucking Co. v. Chandler, 475 So. 2d 437, 439 (Miss. 1985).

Simply stated, in workers' compensation cases, the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is the ultimate finder of fact. *Natchez Equip. Co. v. Gibbs*, 623 So. 2d 270, 273 (Miss. 1993); *R.C. Petroleum, Inc. v. Hernandez*, 555 So. 2d 1017, 1021 (Miss. 1990). On appeal to both the Circuit Court and Supreme Court of the State of Mississippi, as to factual matters, the Commission's findings are entitled to great weight and deference. *Natchez Equip. Co.*, 623 So. 2d at 273. As long as the Commission's decision contains no error of law and is based on substantial evidence, both the Circuit Court, sitting as an intermediate appellate court, and the Supreme Court must not disturb the Commission's findings, and the Commission's Order must be affirmed. *Id.; KLLM, Inc. v. Fowler*, 589 So. 2d 670, 675 (Miss. 1991); *Strickland v. M. H. McMath Gin, Inc.* 457 So. 2d 925, 928 (Miss. 1984). An appeals court cannot substitute its judgment for the judgment of the trier of fact on factual questions. See *R. C. Petroleum v. Hernandez*, 555 So. 2d 1017 (Miss. 1990). It is with these standards in mind that the Court must consider the instant case.

B. The Order of the Commission is Interlocutory

"To be appealable, the order of the Commission must be a final order." Southern Natural Resources, Inc. v. Polk, 388 So. 2d 494, 495 (Miss. 1980). In Cives Steel Co. v. Port of Rosedale, 903 So. 2d 678, 680-81 (Miss. 2005), the Supreme Court held that the circuit court order remanding the case to the Commission for additional testimony and fact finding was not a final judgment; and therefore, the appeal from circuit court to the Court of Appeals was interlocutory and unauthorized.

Northeast and Liberty Mutual assert that Kukor's appeal is likewise interlocutory. In its Order, the Commission remanded this matter to the Administrative Judge "for the purpose

Northeast in the same grade as Mr. Kukor and fixing his benefits accordingly." Kukor then proceeded to file his Notice of Appeal, thereby divesting the Commission of jurisdiction and the ability to determine the remanded issue until his appeal is either exhausted or dismissed. On the basis of well-settled precedent, Kukor's appeal is premature, and this Court would err if it considered the appeal at this time. Accordingly, this appeal should be dismissed and the case remanded to the Commission so that the Administrative Judge may carry out the Commission's directive to determine Kukor's average weekly wage.

C. The Commission's Finding Kukor was in the Course and Scope of His Employment with Northeast is Supported by Substantial Evidence

The Commission found the Administrative Judge erred by finding Northeast and Jay's were "one and the same" in order to justify a more substantial award and instead found the central issue was whether Kukor was in the course and scope of his employment with Northeast or with Jay's at the time of the work accident. The Commission's decision he was in the course and scope of his employment with Northeast is supported by overwhelming and substantial evidence. The parties do not dispute that Kukor was working for Northeast as a tree trimmer at the time of the accident. Instead, Kukor wishes to impute liability to a second company, simply because it is owned by the same individual. The reason he seeks to do so should be apparent: by bringing in a second employer, Kukor wishes to artificially increase his

average weekly wage and, thereby, his indemnity benefits, since he was only earning \$72.00 a week working for Northeast.³

The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Act "does not provide for contribution between insurance carriers, or for any method by which the Commission may adjust equities between carriers." *Mid-South Packers Inc. v. Hanson*, 178 So. 2d 689, 691 (Miss. 1965). Further, not only does the Act not allow joint and several liability in workers' compensation cases, Mississippi jurisprudence no longer recognizes joint and several liability. Notably, the Administrative Judge cited <u>no</u> authority to support her finding that "[c]laimant really worked for one employer"and that "both Northeast/Liberty and Jay's/First Comp are jointly and severally liable for [c]laimant's workers' compensation injuries." Yet it is that unsupported conclusion Kukor wishes this Court to adopt.

In reversing the Administrative Judge's decision, the Commission correctly found the issue to be whether Kukor was in the course and scope of his employment with Northeast or with Jay's at the time of the work accident. The Commission's decision he was in the course and scope of his employment with Northeast is supported by substantial evidence. Though Albritton owns both companies, he testified each provides different services; Northeast provides tree cutting and trimming services whereas Jay's provides debris removal and stump grinding services. Although the two businesses frequently provide these services simultaneously for customers; often, the businesses provide these services separately.

Albritton explained that Northeast employed four or five employees that climbed trees and

³ Although, as discussed herein, the actual amount of Kukor's average weekly wage has never been determined, as that issue was remanded for further fact finding by the Administrative Judge.

sometimes, when tree trimming was slow, worked for Jay's. However, the sixteen employees that worked for Jay's <u>never</u> worked for Northeast. Kukor was hired as a tree trimmer to work for Northeast.

Further separating the companies, Albritton utilized separate payroll companies and insurance companies for Northeast and Jay's and requires potential employees to complete separate job applications. Aside from separating the two businesses because they perform different services, Albritton also separated the companies due to the cost and availability of workers' compensation insurance. Due to the dangerous nature of Northeast's employees' work, many insurance companies would not insure Northeast, so Mr. Albritton utilized an assigned risk pool offered by Liberty Mutual for workers' compensation coverage.

Kukor's brief categorizes the provision of separate workers' compensation coverage for each business as somehow constituting a "sham." Yet, Kukor provides absolutely no basis for this inflammatory and highly improper accusation, at all. As the Commission correctly found, there is no prohibition against an employer utilizing two separate workers' compensation carriers for two separate businesses, especially when the work one business performs is more dangerous, and thus more costly to insure, than the other. Kukor's invective simply highlights the fact that he lacks any legal basis to assign the Commission's finding as error.

In support of his contention, Kukor attempts to liken the facts of his case to that of *Liberty Mutual Ins. Co. v. Holliman*, 765 So. 2d 564 (Miss. 2000). His rationale fails, however, because the Commission correctly determined that, in Kukor's case, Northeast and Jay's do not offer "joint services." Rather, Northeast only employs tree trimmers, whereas Jay's does not. No employee of Jay's offers the services provided by those of Northeast, and

Jay's employees do not work for Northeast. As such, there can be no finding of "joint service" as advanced by Kukor and, as found by the Commission, no law prohibits one owner from operating two businesses. Truly, Kukor's argument is the "red herring" the Commission found it to be, and should hold no merit here.

D. The Commission's Award of 75% Loss of Wage Earning Capacity is Supported by Substantial Evidence

Kukor's brief goes to great lengths to argue he should be found permanently totally disabled. That contention, however, is not proper upon appellate review. As the statutory finder of fact, the Commission is entitled to determine the degree of a claimant's disability. The only review permitted on appeal is whether the Commission's determination that Kukor sustained a 75% loss of wage earning capacity is supported by substantial evidence. If it is, the Commission's decision stands. Kukor's advocacy for a appellate finding of permanent total disability is improper under the standard of review.

As defined by Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-3 (I) (Rev. 2000), "'disability' means incapacity because of injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or other employment, which incapacity and the extent thereof must be supported by medical findings." To determine disability, one must compare the employee's pre-injury wages with the employee's post-injury capacity to earn wages in the open labor market. *Karr v. Armstrong Tire & Rubber Co.*, 61 So. 2d 789, 792 (Miss. 1953). The Commission must evaluate the evidence as a whole to determine loss of wage earning capacity. *Guardian Fiberglass, Inc. v. LaSueur*, 751 So. 2d 1201, 1204-05 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Also, besides the medical evidence, the Commission must evaluate claimant's age, education, work

experience, and any other relevant factual criteria to determine the extent of disability, if any.

Meridian Professional Baseball Club v. Jensen, 828 So. 2d 740, 747 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

In this case, Dr. Ramsey noted Kukor had reached maximum medical improvement and assigned him a 15% impairment to the right upper extremity and a 18% impairment to the left upper extremity. Dr. Vohra assigned Kukor a 5% impairment to the body as a whole and restricted him to lifting thirty pounds occasionally and no repetitive bending, twisting or stooping. Dr. Vohra also noted Kukor could return to work at a light to medium level.⁴

Further, Northeast and Liberty Mutual presented expert vocational testimony from Mr. Mills that Kukor retains employability in the light to medium categories and that he has acquired certain job skills that would allow him to perform such jobs. Mr. Mills provided three labor market surveys which found employers that would pay Kukor as much as \$10.00 per hour. Kukor claimed to have applied for every job Mr. Mills recommended, but most employers had no record of him applying for a job. Kukor also offered that he had contacted over 118 employers, but received no job offers. Upon further inquiry, however, Kukor admitted he attached his medical records to his job applications. Clearly, the Commission had a substantial basis to believe Mr. Mill's expert testimony that Kukor has jobs available to him and to question the legitimacy of Kukor "bona fide" efforts to secure other employment.

In addition to the job opportunities Mr. Mills located, the Commission noted Albritton offered Kukor a light duty job once he was released to return to work. Kukor returned to work for only one day. Based on these facts, the Commission properly determined Kukor was not

⁴The Commission properly treated this claim as one involving disability to the body as a whole due to the array of injuries claimant suffered.

permanently and totally disabled. Kukors protestations to the contrary are without merit. The record contains able substantial evidence to support the Commission's finding that Kukor sustained a 75% loss of wage earning capacity as the result of his injuries and, therefore, the Commission's decision should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

Northeast and Liberty Mutual assert that this appeal is interlocutory as the Commission remanded this matter to the Administrative Judge for additional fact finding. Accordingly, this appeal should be dismissed so that the Administrative Judge may determine the proper average weekly wage as ordered by the Commission. However, if this Court finds the Commission's Order final and, therefore, appealable, Northeast and Liberty Mutual urge this Court to affirm the Order of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, which is supported by substantial evidence.